# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-25-2016

# Bright v. Maznik Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44129

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (i) Nature of the Case:

This case is a personal injury action arising out of a dog attack of a Belgian Shepherd, which Complaint alleged *per se* violations of statute, strict liability, and negligence against the property owners and their tenants. The case involves the interpretation of Idaho Code § 25-2805(2) in addressing the liability of a property owner for injuries suffered due to an attack and bite from a vicious dog that is housed on property. The Appellant, Whitney Bright ("Bright") seeks to reverse the summary judgment ruling issued in favor of the Respondents, Roman and Natalya Mazniks ("Mazniks" or "Landlord") on the basis that there were material issues of fact existing in the record upon which the juror fact finders could rely to find the Landlord liable for the injuries caused by the vicious dog.

Bright contends that, by definition under Idaho Code § 25-2805(2), the dog owner "and the owner of the premises" on which the animal is housed, both have imposed on them a duty of responsibility resulting from an unprovoked attack by a vicious dog. There is no exception under the statute for lack of knowledge nor is there a requirement of a prior bite or attack. In fact, the statute details the further consequences of what happens on a "second or subsequent violation" so that it is clear that the first sentence of Idaho Code § 25-2805(2) applies to duties on the first attack of a vicious dog. Notwithstanding, the District Court ruled on summary judgment in favor of Mazniks following the theory that a vicious dog is allowed "one free bite" and holding that no duty attaches under the statute unless a prior incident clearly establishes a foreseeable harm.

Bright further contends that conflicting evidence existed in the record between witnesses as to the vicious nature and dangerous propensities of the dog. Statements made by both the owners of the dog and the closest neighbor established that the dog was dangerous, intimidating, barked wildly, and lunged hard at the neighbor on its leash. This was in conflict with the statements of the Landlord's agent, who claimed that although the dog barked loudly when she picked up the rent each month from the tenants, she did not feel the dog was vicious. The conflicting statements asserted in the evidence constitute material issues of fact that should have prevented the case from determination at summary judgment and allowed the case to proceed to a jury trial. A jury should be allowed to weigh the material factual issues regarding knowledge of the dangerous and vicious propensities of the dog as against the owner of the premises, the Landlord.

### (ii) Course of Proceedings:

Bright filed a Complaint on September 25, 2014, bringing her claim for personal injury damages resulting from a vicious dog attack against both the dog owner, and the Mazniks, as owners of the property where the vicious dog was housed. R. Vol. I, pp. 5-9. The Complaint alleged that the Mazniks had a duty under Canyon County Code and Nampa City Code to keep the dog restrained and controlled at all times, as well as causes of action for strict liability and negligence. R. Vol. I, pp. 5-9. The Complaint alleged that the Mazniks are the owners of the property harboring the dog with the vicious nature, disposition and propensity where the Mazniks knew of, or had reason to know of, the vicious nature of the dog. R. Vol. I, pp. 7-8.

Bright filed her First Amended Complaint on May 20, 2015, to add the wife of the dog owner as a Defendant. R. Vol. I, p. 3 and R. Vol. I, pp. 97-102. The proceeding against Defendants James and Katherine Thomas ("Thomases"), the owners of the dog, proceeded through default and a Judgment for \$25,000 was entered on March 24, 2016. R. Vol. I, p. 280. That Judgment against the dog owners, Thomases, is not at issue in this appeal.

Mazniks filed an Answer to the Complaint and a demand for jury trial on November 10, 2014. R. Vol. I, pp. 10-17. A Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by the Mazniks on April 15, 2015, arguing that the Respondents do not have a statutory or common law duty with regard to

the dog owned by the Thomases and further sought the dismissal of Mazniks as defendants in the case. R. Vol. I, pp. 20-21.

Bright filed her Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on June 8, 2015 (R. Vol. 1, pp. 139-142) asserting Defendant Thomas' testimony and the testimony of the dog owners' closest neighbor, Janette Endecott ("Endecott") established that this dog was intimidating, dangerous, and known to be vicious. R. Vol. I, pp. 155 and 106-107. The Memorandum further sets out the facts showing that Mazniks, through their agent, had approved the Belgian Shepherd dog in the Residential Lease/Rental Agreement, and personally collected the rent from the tenants each month and had personally observed the dog's behavior and demeanor. R. Vol. I, p. 60, 78. Bright's Memorandum in Opposition of Summary Judgment asserted that: (i) this was a vicious dog by definition under Idaho Code § 25-2805(2); (ii) the Mazniks, through their agent, Ms. Neddo, had knowledge of, or should have known about the vicious nature of the dog; and (iii) therefore, under the statute, the Mazniks could be liable for the injuries caused to by the dog. R. Vol. I, pp. 186-195. There is no statutory requirement that the dog must have a prior bite or attack for liability to attach under the clear language of Idaho Code § 25-2805(2). The statute further does not distinguish between whether the property owner is a landlord or an owner occupying the property.

A hearing on the Summary Judgment Motion was conducted by the court on June 18, 2015, and the court issued its Memorandum Decision Upon Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on July, 17, 2015. R. Vol. I, p. 236-249. The court determined that an ambiguity existed in the statute which required the court to look to the reasonableness and the public policy behind the statute and legislative history. R. Vol. I, p. 240. The court held that because there was no evidence in the record that the Dog had physically attacked or otherwise bitten anyone prior to this incident,

the court found that the Mazniks were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Bright's negligence *per se,* strict liability, and negligence claims.

#### (iii) Statement of Facts:

The Mazniks are the owners of real property in Canyon County, Idaho, identified as 813 Heartland Court, Nampa, Idaho (the "Property"). The Property includes a townhome unit that the Mazniks rented out through their property management agent, Cashflow Management. R. Vol. I, pp. 55-60. On January 21, 2014, the Defendants Thomases ("Thomases") jointly owned a large dog of the German or Belgium Shepherd breed ("the Dog"), which was approximately six and a half (6 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) years old. R. Vol. I, p. 98. Thomases lived with the Dog at their residence located at the Property. Thomases had actual knowledge that the Dog had violent propensities and was a danger to other persons. The Thomases did not keep the Dog reasonably and properly confined. R. Vol. I, p. 98. Mr. Thomas told the investigating police officer that the Dog had been "protective trained." R. Vol. I, p. 147.

Mazniks, as owners of the Property wherein the Thomases resided, knew or should have known that the occupants of the residence were harboring the dangerous Dog. The Mazniks' knowledge and actions are as imputed from their property management agent, the principal of Cashflow Management, Trina Neddo (Ms. Neddo), who personally collected the rents each month from the tenants of the properties and had personally observed the viscous Dog on these occasions. Ms. Neddo testified to her agency with the property owners as follows:

- 6 Q. Do you have any problem stating that anything
- 7 you did in relation to Mr. Thomas, this case, anything
- 8 you did or did not do was within the scope of your
- 9 agency on behalf of Roman Maznik?
- 10 A. Yes, I do.
- 11 Q. Do you agree to that?
- 12 A. Yes.
- 13 Q. And do you agree that anything that was within
- 14 your knowledge or not within your knowledge is also
- 15 within the scope of your agency with Mr. Maznik?

16 A. Yes.

(Depo. of Trina Neddo, pg 62, lines 6-16, Exh. C, Affidavit of Pope.) R. Vol. I, p. 78.

The Mazniks, through their agent, lease almost exclusively (approximately 90%) to tenants with pets and often to tenants with large dogs. (Depo. of Trina Neddo, pg 22, lines 16-19, Exh. C, Affidavit of Pope.) R. Vol. I, p. 68. Their agent regulated the dogs of their tenants including the present dog owners, Thomases, by having them enter into a "Pet Agreement" which was attached to their lease and that required: (1) that the Dog be "kept under control at all times"; (2) that the Dog "be restrained when it is outside"; (3) that the Dog should not cause any "annoyance of discomfort to others"; and (4) that "any damage" by the Dog should be immediately paid for. The Pet Agreement made the Mazniks aware the Thomases owned a large "Belgian Shepherd (40 lbs.)" R. Vol. I, p. 60. The Mazniks, through their agent, were further involved in prior pet investigations as evidenced by their responses to interrogatories that: "Defendants Roman Maznik and Natalya K. Maznik entrusted Cashflow Management to deal with all necessary measures to provide safe rental premises, including checking the breed of the pet and avoids leasing the property to the Tenant with aggressive breeds." R. Vol. I, p. 180. A Belgian Shepherd dog is the same breed that the U.S. Secret Service uses "to guard the grounds of the White House." R. Vol. I, p. 174.

The Dog at issue in this case had no outside dog run or fenced yard and was kept in-doors constantly, except for occasional walks. As testified to by its owners, the dog received no socialization outside its cooped up home such that "if anybody got within our radius he turned his hackles up and was on guard" meaning the dog "got into a stance where he is ready to jump on you . . . . " "He was scared. If someone came near us that he didn't know he responded like a scared animal would. He would bark." (Depo. of Katherine Thomas, pgs. 15-19, Exh. 3, Aff. of Bright.) R. Vol. I, pp. 154-155. Mrs. Thomas further testified:

- 4 Q. So it was a warning bark?
- 5 A. Yes.
- 6 Q. And how loud was the bark?
- 7 A. He had a pretty loud bark.
- 8 Q. Was it what an average person would consider
- 9 an intimidating bark?
- 10 A. Yes.
- 11 Q. How would the average person interpret it to
- 12 be intimidating?
- 13 A. It's loud. And there is a dog standing there
- 14 barking at you looking at you straight in the eye. To
- 15 me that is intimidating.

(Depo. of Katherine Thomas, pgs. 16-19, Exh. 3, Aff. of Bright.) R. Vol. I, pp. 154-155.

Mr. Thomas told the investigating police officer that the Dog had been "protective trained." R.

Vol. I, p. 147.

A neighbor who was closest to the Property residence testified that:

The residents of 813 Heartland Court, Nampa, Idaho have had in past years a large German Shepherd or similar Shepherd breed dog. After the residents of 813 moved in, the gentleman owner of the dog came over to my front door, introduced himself and said "this is not a friendly dog" and it is a "retired police dog."

On more than one occasion when I was out working in the yard, and the neighbor would walk his large Shepherd dog to the mail box, the dog would bark wildly at me and lunge hard against its leash toward me. There was no question in my mind but that this was a vicious dog.

(Affidavit of Janette Endecott). R. Vol. I, pp. 106-107.

The Mazniks through their agent, had monthly contact with the vicious Dog because the

property manager personally went to the Property each month and collected the rent in person:

- 1 Q. How much contact did you have with Trina Neddo [Masnik's agent]
- 2 or her husband from 2009 to September of 2014 while you
- 3 lived at 813 Heartland Court?
- 4 A. Monthly contact for rent pick up. And
- 5 whenever there was an issue with any maintenance of the
- 6 apartment.
- 7 Q. Did you ever have Murphy, the dog, in the
- 8 presence of Trina Neddo?
- 9 A. Yes.
- 10 Q. And did she observe the dog?

11 A. I believe so. She had the opportunity to.

12 Q. And did Murphy, the dog, bark wildly as you

13 described in the presence of Trina Neddo?

14 A. When she first came to the door, when anybody

15 came to the door, he would. But I don't -- yeah, I

16 believe I have answered that.

17 Q. And did Trina Neddo come to the door on a

18 monthly basis?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. Collecting rent?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. And would Murphy, the dog, be outside his

23 kennel inside the house on those occasions?

A. Yes. I believe. There were some times where

25 he was in his kennel asleep when she came to the door.

1 So I can't say for certain where he was all of the time

2 whenever she came.

3 Q. But there was some times when he was outside

4 the secure enclosure of the kennel when she came?

5 A. Yes.

(Depo. of James Thomas, pg. 54-55, Exh. 4.) R. Vol. I, p. 167.

Plaintiff Bright testified by affidavit and by deposition that she was attacked by the

vicious Dog, without provocation, on the evening of January 21, 2014 when she approached the

door of the Property:

On the evening of January 21, 2014 at approx. 9:30 p.m., I approached the front door of 813 Heartland Ct., Nampa, ID, the residence of James R. Thomas. I was visiting for a business purpose to determine why Thomas was behind on vehicle payments and determining whether the vehicle should be repossessed. I knocked on the front door or rang the doorbell. The porch light came on. Thomas opened the door behind which was a large barking vicious dog. Thomas stepped back allowing the dog to charge out biting and tearing at my left elbow. I was on the walkway off the porch and turned to run but the dog then attacked and bit my upper leg. My only escape was to run inside the house. The viscous dog then began charging and biting at the door further intimidating me and causing excruciating fear as I hid in the house until the dog was finally subdued and removed.

At no time did I take any action to provoke the vicious dog. In fact, before the door was opened, I had stepped back off the porch onto the sidewalk and away from the door. There was no screen door on the property at 813 Heartland Court. There was no secure enclosure at 813 Heartland Court to keep the vicious dog from escaping. There was no secure enclosure at 813 Heartland Court for which exit and entry of the vicious dog was controlled by the owner of the premises or owner of the vicious dog.

(Affidavit of Whitney Bright.) R. Vol. I, pp. 139-140.

Bright was taken to the hospital and treated for her injuries. Bright has incurred severe pain and suffering with medical procedures and medical expenses. In addition, Bright is left with large permanent scars. R. Vol. I, p. 125. The subsequent police investigation revealed that the Dog had not had its rabies vaccination despite the fact that the Dog is over six years old. Subsequent to the attack, Thomases were required to quarantine the Dog. R. Vol. I, pp. 146-148. Eventually, the Dog was "put down." (Depo. of James Thomas, pp. 45-46.) R. Vol. I, pp. 164-165.

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Whether the District Court on Summary Judgment liberally construed all reasonable inferences and controverted facts in favor of the Plaintiff as required on summary judgment;
- 2. Whether material issues of fact existed in the record upon which a fact-finder could have relied to find liability against the property owner landlord respondents;
- 3. Whether the District Court erred by determining that the statutory language of Idaho Code § 25-2805(2) was ambiguous and required "one free bite" before attaching any liability for a vicious dog; and
- 4. Whether the District Court erred in entering summary judgment against the Plaintiff.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

#### A. Summary Judgment.

When this Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment, it uses the same standard properly employed by the district court originally ruling on the motion. *Carl H. Christensen Family Trust v. Christensen*, 133 Idaho 866, 993 P.2d 1197 (1999). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* at 870. "The record is construed in the

light most favorable to the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of that party. If reasonable minds might come to different conclusions, summary judgment is inappropriate. On appeal, this Court exercises free review." *Hayward v. Valley Vista Care Corp.*, 136 Idaho 342, 345, 33 P.3d 816, 819 (Idaho 2001).

#### B. Statutory Review.

This Court freely reviews the interpretation of a statute and its application to the facts. State v. Yzaguirre, 144 Idaho 471, 474, 163 P.3d 1183, 1186 (2007). The primary function of the Court is to determine and give effect to the legislative intent. Such intent should be derived from a reading of the whole act at issue. George W. Watkins Family v. Messenger, 118 Idaho 537, 539-40, 797 P.2d 1385, 1387-88 (1990). If the statutory language is unambiguous, "the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory construction." Payette River Property Owners Assn. v. Board of Commrs. of Valley County, 132 Idaho 551, 557, 976 P.2d 477, 483 (1999). The plain meaning of a statute therefore will prevail unless clearly expressed legislative intent is contrary or unless plain meaning leads to absurd results. Gillihan v. Gump, 140 Idaho 264, 266, 92 P.3d 514, 516 (2004). When a statute is ambiguous, the determination of the meaning of the statute and its application is also a matter of law over which this Court exercises free review. Kelso & Irwin, P.A. v. State Insur. Fund, 134 Idaho 130, 134, 997 P.2d 591, 595 (2000); J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co., 132 Idaho 582, 584, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999). If it is necessary for this Court to interpret a statute, the Court will attempt to ascertain legislative intent, and in construing a statute, may examine the language used, the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations, and the policy behind the statute. Kelso & Irwin, P.A. at 134, 997 P.2d at 595. To ascertain legislative intent, the Court examines not only the literal words of the statute, but the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations, the policy behind the statute, and its

legislative history. Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille Sch. Dist. No. 84, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d

655, 658 (2006).

# II. WITH THE SPECIFIC FACTS OF THIS CASE, THE MATTER SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO BE RESOLVED BY A JURY.

# A. The Evidence Existed in the Record That Mazniks Knew or Should Have Known That the Dog Was Vicious.

The following is a summary of facts, viewed most favorably to Bright, that the property

owners, Mazniks knew or should have known that the Dog was vicious:

- Mazniks worked solely through their property managing agent who admitted that everything the agent knew or did was on behalf of Mazniks. R. Vol. I, p. 187.
- Mazniks' property agent rents to nearly 90% pet owners in order to tap that market. R. Vol. I., p. 68.
- Mazniks entered a "Pet Agreement" with the dog owners in this case granting permission to have a "Belgian Shepherd 40lbs." on the premises. R. Vol. I, p. 60.
- Mazniks' assumed a duty to screen out tenants with dogs of an aggressive breed. R. Vol. I, p. 180.
- Mazniks failed through its agent's ordinary practice to investigate the Belgian Shepherd breed to find that it is a regularly used guard dog. A simple Internet search would have revealed the aggressive nature of this breed. R. Vol. I, p. 174.
- The Dog was confined to the small home with no dog run or kennel and no socialization with others outside the home. R. Vol. I, pp. 154-155.
- Mazniks through their agent, personally visited the home each month to pick up the rent payment and therein observed the confining conditions of the large Dog along with the wild barking and aggressive nature of the Dog. R. Vol. I, p. 167.

This is not the typical landlord-tenant relationship where the property owner does not know anything about the tenants' pets, has no pet agreement in the lease, and receives the mailed in rental payments never visiting the property. In that typical relationship it would make sense for the court to rule that there are no issues of fact to be presented to the jury on the landlord's potential liability. However, in this case, Bright presented to the District Court the above detailed substantial competent evidence upon which a jury could conclude that the property owners, Mazniks, knew or should have known of the vicious nature of the Dog. Bright asserts on appeal that the District Court erred in failing to acknowledge those items of factual evidence and failing to view those items of evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, Bright.

# B. The Dog Fits the Definition of a Vicious Dog Pursuant to Idaho Code § 25-2805(2) as His Attack was Unprovoked.

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