Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-22-2016

Bright v. Maznik Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44129

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

A summary of the best information that Appellant Bright has been able to produce, with respect to whether Respondents Maznick knew or should have known of dangerous propensities of the dog, is characterized in the following statements made in the "Nature of the Case" section of Appellant's Brief:

"Statements made by both the owners of the dog and the closest neighbor establish that the dog was dangerous, intimidating, barked wildly, lunged hard at the neighbor on its leash . . ." Appellant's Brief, p. 4-5.

There are no facts in the record to show that the statements made by the Tenant or the neighbor about the dog Murphy were ever communicated to the Landlord or its agent, Cashflow Management.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court was Correct in Granting Summary Judgment to Defendants (Respondents Maznik);
- B. Whether the District Court was Correct in Finding the Provisions of Idaho Code §25-2805(2) to be Ambiguous;
- C. Whether the District Court's Interpretation of Idaho Code §25-2805(2) was Correct.

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

- A. Standard of Review.
- 1. Summary Judgment:

This Court exercises free review over appeals from a district court's grant of summary judgment, applying the same standard the district court used in ruling on the motion. *Taylor v*.

McNichols, 149 Idaho 826, 832, 243 P.3d 642, 648 (2010) (quoting Curlee v. Kootenai Cnty. Fire & Rescue, 148 Idaho 391, 394, 224 P.3d 458, 461 (2008)). Under that standard, summary judgment is proper if "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). "If there is no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law remains, over which this Court exercises free review." Cristo Viene Pentecostal Church v. Paz, 144 Idaho 304, 307, 160 P.3d 743, 746 (2007).

The party initially bringing the motion has the burden to prove that no genuine issues of material fact exist and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Indian Springs LLC v. Indian Springs Land Inv., LLC*, 147 Idaho 737, 746, 215 P.3d 457, 466 (2009) (citing *Cafferty v. Dep't of Transp., Div. of Motor Vehicle Servs.*, 144 Idaho 324, 327, 160 P.3d 763, 766 (2007)). After the moving party meets this burden, " the burden shifts to the nonmoving party to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact." *Asbury Park, LLC v. Greenbriar Estate Homeowners' Ass'n, Inc.*, 152 Idaho 338, 343-44, 271 P.3d 1194, 1199-1200 (2012) (quoting *Chandler v. Hayden*, 147 Idaho 765, 769, 215 P.3d 485, 489 (2009)). This Court will " construe the record in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion, drawing all reasonable inferences in that party's favor." *Jenkins v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 141 Idaho 233, 238, 108 P.3d 380, 385 (2005) (citing *Thompson v. Pike*, 125 Idaho 897, 899, 876 P.2d 595, 597 (1994)). However, " the adverse party may not rest upon mere allegations in the pleadings, but must set forth by affidavit specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Curlee*, 148 Idaho at

394-95, 224 P.3d at 461-62 (quoting *Rhodehouse v. Stutts*, 125 Idaho 208, 211, 868 P.2d 1224, 1227 (1994)).

2. Statutory Review:

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which the Court exercises free review. *Doe v. Boy Scouts of America*, 148 Idaho 427, 430, 224 P.3d 494, 497 (2009). When construing a statute, the words used must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning, and the statute must be construed as a whole." *City of Huetter v. Keene*, 150 Idaho 13, 15, 244 P.3d 157, 159 (2010) (quoting *Athay v. Stacey*, 142 Idaho 360, 365, 128 P.3d 897, 902 (2005)). " If the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written." *Harrison v. Binnion*, 147 Idaho 645, 649, 214 P.3d 631, 635 (2009) (quoting [264 P.3d 948] *McLean v. Maverik Country Stores, Inc.*, 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006)).

When a statute is ambiguous, the determination of the meaning of the statute and its application is also a matter of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Kelso Irwin, P.A.* v. State Insur. Fund, 134 Idaho 130, 134, 997 P.2d 591, 595 (2000); J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co., 132 Idaho 582, 584, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999).

- B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACTS IN DISPUTE WITH REGARD TO EACH THEORY OF LIABILITY URGED BY APPELLANT IN THIS MATTER.
 - 1. Evidence in the Record Does Not Support Appellant Bright's Argument That Respondents Maznik, Knew or Should Have Known that the Dog Was Vicious.

Appellant Bright sets out a summary of facts, which, she claims, when viewed most

favorably to her, show that the Landlord knew or should have known that the dog was vicious. Appellant's Brief, p. 13. However, Appellant Bright seems to interchange facts with assumption or conclusions.

Appellant Bright makes a statement that "Mazniks [Landlord] <u>assumed a duty</u> to screen out tenants with dogs of an aggressive breed." Appellant's Brief - p. 13. (emphasis added) This is a legal conclusion rather than a statement of fact. Although, it is not clear whether Appellant Bright is arguing this issue on appeal, Respondents Maznik will briefly review the issue.

The District Court analyzed Appellant Bright's "assumption of duty" claim in its Memorandum Decision. R. Vol. I, pp. 11-13. The District Court determined the following: that "... whether Mazniks had a duty to protect third parties from the Tenants' dog depends on whether, they, through their Agent Neddo, did either of two things: (1) collected a pet deposit with the intent to protect third parties, and/or (2) whether they restricted the type or size of dog Tenants could keep on the property."

The Idaho Court of Appeals in *Boots ex rel. Boots v. Winters*, 145 Idaho 389, 179 P.3d 352 (Ct. App. 2008), addressed similar questions where the injured party asserted the landlord assumed a duty to protect third parties. The injured party claimed the landlord regulated the type or size of dog permitted on the property and the landlord collected a pet deposit, thus, it assumed a duty. The Idaho Appellate Court in *Boots*, at 396, concluded there was no assumption of duty on the part of the landlord.

The Idaho Supreme Court has recognized that it is possible to create a duty where one

previously did not exist. If one voluntarily undertakes to perform an act, having no prior duty to do so, the duty arises to perform the act in a non-negligent manner. *Udy v. CusterCounty*, 136 Idaho 386, 389, 34 P.3d 1069, 1072 (2001); *Coghlan v. Beta Theta Pi Fraternity*, 133 Idaho 388, 400, 987 P.2d 300, 312 (1999). *See also Sharp*, 118 Idaho at 300, 796 P.2d at 509. Liability for an assumed duty, however, can only come into being to the extent that there is in fact an undertaking. *Udy*, 136 Idaho at 389, 34 P.3d at 1072. *See also Bowling v. Jack B. Parson Cos.*, 117 Idaho 1030, 1032, 793 P.2d 703, 705 (1990). Although a person can assume a duty to act on a particular occasion, the duty is limited to the discrete episode in which the aid is rendered. *Udy*, 136 Idaho at 389, 34 P.3d at 1072.

The District Court, in the instant case, analyzed similar questions. The Pet Agreement indicated the Tenant will pay an additional \$300 for ". . . cleaning, repairs, or delinquent rent when the Resident vacates." The District Court, referencing the *Boots* case, supra, concluded ". . .the mere act of collecting the pet deposit did not mean that a landlord assumed a duty." R. Vol I, p. 247.

The District Court then discussed whether there was evidence that the Landlord regulated the type or size of dog. The District Court reviewed the deposition testimony of Agent Neddo, and concluded that ". . . there was nothing in her testimony that implies that even Pit bulls and Rottweilers were necessarily excluded by Neddo, just that she might pay more attention to considering whether these breeds should be allowed. " R. Vol I, p. 248.

Based on the foregoing, the District Court, in the instant case, correctly found that Landlord had not assumed a duty to protect third parties from the Tenants' dog. R. Vol I,

Appellant Bright also makes the statement that "[a] simple internet search would have revealed the aggressive nature of this breed." Appellant's Brief, p. 13. This is not a fact but rather an assumption made by Appellant Bright. Furthermore, the internet reference by Appellant Bright contains no statement that the breed Malinois is aggressive, beyond saying the breed is used to "guard the grounds of the White House." R. Vol. I, p. 174. Obviously, to be used as a guard dog, the animal would need to be specifically trained for that purpose. What the internet reference does say is that "[W]ell-raised and trained Malinois are usually active, intelligent, friendly, protective, alert and hard-working." R. Vol. I, p. 175.

Appellant Bright has translated a generalized statement found on an internet web page into a statement of fact suggesting that a certain breed of dog which has been used as a guard dog is from an aggressive breed. From there, Appellant Bright makes the leap to conclude that an aggressive dog is therefore a vicious dog. However, Appellant Bright has failed to assert any facts which provide direct evidence that the dog in the instant case had bitten or attacked any person in the past.

Appellant Bright refers to an affidavit from a neighbor of the Tenant dog owner, who described being outside one day when the dog was out with the owner. The neighbor claims that the dog lunged and barked at her, while on a leash, so the neighbor characterized the dog as vicious. R. Vol. 1, pp. 106-107. However, a neighbor characterizing the dog as vicious does not make the dog vicious in the legal sense in the absence of any evidence of bites or physical attacks. And more importantly, there is no

evidence in the record that the Landlord or its agent were aware of this incident described by the Tenant's neighbor.

With respect to Appellant Brights's claim that Landlord, through their agent, knew or should have known of the vicious tendencies of the Tennant's dog, there is no evidence in the record to support these contentions. Therefore, summary judgment as a matter of law, was correct on any theory of liability requiring proof that Respondents Maznik knew or should have known of the vicious tendencies of the Tenant's dog.

2. The District Court Was Not in Error in Finding That the Dog Did Not Fit the Definition of a Vicious Dog at the Time of the Incident as Set Forth in Idaho Code §25-2805(2)

Appellant Bright argues that Landlord is subject to liability for negligence per se due to a violation of I.C. § 25-2807(2). The statute states in pertinent part:

Any dog which, when not physically provoked, physically attacks, wounds, bites or otherwise injures any person who is not trespassing, is vicious. It shall be unlawful for the owner or for the owner of premises on which a vicious dog is present to harbor a vicious dog outside a secure enclosure. A secure enclosure is one from which the animal cannot escape and for which exit and entry is controlled by the owner of the premises or owner of the animal. I.C. § 25-2807(2)

Each party in this action interpreted I.C. § 25-2807(2) in a different way. The District Court found the different interpretations to be reasonable and therefore acted within the bounds of its discretion to interpret the statute.

The interpretation of a statute is an issue of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Dyet v. McKinley*, 139 Idaho 526, 528, 81 P.3d 1236, 1238 (2003). When a statute is

ambiguous, the determination of the meaning of the statute and its application is also a matter of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Kelso Irwin, P.A. v. State Insur. Fund*, 134 Idaho 130, 134, 997 P.2d 591, 595 (2000); *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co.*, 132 Idaho 582, 584, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999).

The District Court analyzed the reasonableness, public policy and legislative history of the statute. *L & W Supply Corp. v. Chartland Family Trust*, 136 Idaho 738, 743, 40 P.3d 96, 101 (2002). The District court reviewed the recent case of *James v. City of Boise*, 2016 Isa. LEXIS 83, 376 P.3d 33 (Idaho2016) and concluded that the James case supported the Respondents Maznik's argument that "every dog gets one free bite . . . " under the statute.

The District Court then reviewed the legislative history of I.C. § 25-2805(2) and concluded that the ". . . legislature seemed to recognize viciousness as a condition precedent to liability, as did the Mazniks." The District Court also analyzed a similar statute and case law from the State of Washington and other jurisdictions and stated:

Interestingly, the State of Washington imposes liability on a dog owner regardless of the former viciousness of the dog RCWA 16.08.040. Importantly, the Washington statute imposes liability on dog owners, not the premises' owner. See Frobig v. Gordon, 124 Wash.2d 732 (1994); Deane-Gordly v. Willett, 162 Wash.App. 1029 (2011). Washington Courts have recognized important policy reasons for imposing liability on animal owners, but not on premise owners — "[o]ur rule...promotes the salutary policy in placing responsibility where it belongs, rather than fostering a search for a defendant whose affluence is more apparent than his culpability." Clemmons v. Fidler, 58 Wash.App. 32, 38 (1990).

In contrast, our legislature amended I.C. §25-2805(2) in 1998 making it unlawful for the owner or for the owner of premises to keep a vicious dog outside a secure enclosure.

Our legislature could have drafted a statute similar to Washington and have imposed liability regardless of the former viciousness of the dog—but it did

not. Finally, other states who do impose liability regardless of former viciousness of the dog fail to extend liability to landlords. *See* RCWA 16.08.040 (Washington); Cal. Civ. Code § 3342 (California); MCA 27-1-715 (Montana).

After its analysis, the District Court correctly concluded that "[t]here is no evidence in the record that Murphy the dog has physically attacked or otherwise bitten anyone prior to the current incident. Given this Court's reading of I.C. § 25-2805(2), the holding in the *James* case, and the legislative history set forth above, this Court finds the Mazniks are entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Bright's negligence per se claim."

Interpreting the statute in the way urged by Appellant Bright would likely lead to an unreasonable or absurd result. "... [C]ourts should refrain from skewing the statute in a way that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results." *Jasso v. Camas County* 151 Idaho 790, 798, 264 P.3d 897, 905 (2011).

According to I.C. § 25-2805(2), there are certain prerequisites which must first be met in order for a dog to qualify under the definition of a vicious dog. These prerequisites require a physical attack, wound, bite or other injury to a person who is not trespassing and who has not physically provoked the dog. Prior to a physical attack, a wound, a bite or other injury, the dog is not deemed vicious under the statute and no duty arises on the part of the owner or owner of property to harbor the dog in a secure enclosure.

Under Appellant Bright's interpretation of the statute, all dog owners would need to keep their dog in a secure enclosure at all times, unless on a chain, because the owner would not know beforehand whether or when the dog might attack, bite or injure a person. If this is what the legislature intended, then they could easily have written the statute to require all dogs to be harbored inside a secure enclosure or held on a chain at all times. Or, the legislature could easily have enacted a statute of strict liability which says that the owner of a dog which attacks, bites or otherwise injures a person is liable for any damages caused to the person period, with no prerequisites.

Instead, the Idaho Legislature enacted a statute which requires the prerequisites discussed above, before a legal duty attaches to the owner to keep the dog in a secure enclosure or on a chain. Prior to the happening of one or more of the prerequisites, there is no duty and no liability under the statute.

The Idaho Supreme Court recently affirmed the rule under common law that all dogs, regardless of breed or size, are presumed to be harmless domestic animals. *Boswell v. Steele*, 348 P.3d 497 (Idaho App. 2015), quoting *Braese v. Stinker Stores, Inc.*, 157 Idaho 443, 337 P.3d 602 (2014).

Following the reasoning of *Braese*, the dog Murphy was presumed to be a "harmless domestic animal" at all times prior and up to the very moment it bit Appellant Bright on January 21, 2014. Once the dog attacked Appellant Bright, it then became "vicious" under the statutory definition. Therefore, Appellant Bright's continual assertions found throughout Appellant's Brief that Murphy was a "vicious dog" are unwarranted.

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